UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 92-5227

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
ver sus
JAVES DAVI D BYRD,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Texas
(4:92 CR 34)

(Cct ober 15, 1993)

Bef ore GOLDBERG, JONES and DUHE, Circuit Judges.”
PER CURI AM

The appel |l ant Janmes Byrd pled guilty to a wire fraud
violation and conspiracy to commt bank fraud. He was sentenced
to 40 nonths in prison followed by three years of probation. He
was al so ordered to pay $797,719 in restitution. He appeals his
sentence on nunerous grounds. Because we find that his sentence
is in accordance with the Federal Sentencing CGuidelines, we

affirm

"Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that have no
precedential value and nmerely decide particular cases on the basis of well-
settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens on
the | egal profession." Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determined that this
opi nion shoul d not be published.



BACKGROUND

Whil e president and owner of WIIlow Bend Leasing, a
conpany |ocated in Plano, Texas that sold and |eased cars, Byrd
becane i nvolved in schenes to defraud car deal ers, car purchasers,
and financial institutions. These schenmes caused |osses to their
victins in excess of $1.5 mllion.

For exanple, in a schene designed to defraud car deal ers
and purchasers, the appellant used fraudulent auto drafts! to
purchase new | uxury cars fromvari ous deal ers t hroughout the United
States. He then sold the cars to his WIIow Bend custoners, who
paid his conpany directly. As Byrd's conpany had not paid the
dealers for the cars, however, the buyers would not receive good
title.

Byrd also schened to obtain credit and noney from
financial institutions. For exanple, he created auto drafts that
represented fictitious auto sales by WIl ow Bend Leasing to a co-
conspirator's conpany, Buddy Vaughan Motors. Wen the drafts from
Buddy Vaughan Mot ors, purporting to show that Buddy Vaughan Motors
was paying WI | ow Bend Motors for a car, were deposited into WI I ow
Bend Leasing's account at a particular financial institution,
Wl ow Bend Leasing was given imediate credit for the deposits.

After their deposit inthat financial institution, the drafts woul d

L An auto draft is an envel ope whose outside, |like a check, contains
the informati on necessary to negotiate the draft and receive paynent together
with a description of the vehicle. The inside of the seal ed envel ope contains
the title and transfer docunments pertaining to that vehicle.
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be sent to a second financial institution where they were paid with
a cashier's check drawn on the first financial institution. The
appellant directed his secretary to go to the first financia
institution three tines a day to conduct WIIlow Bend Leasing's
banki ng and to purchase the cashier's checks needed to pay off the
second financial institution that day. Oher exanples of Byrd's
creative devices to part banks, dealers, and custoners fromtheir
money wthout financial risk to hinmself are nunmerous but
unnecessary to recite.

Byrd was ultimtely charged with a wire fraud violation
and conspiracy to commt bank fraud. In his plea agreenent,
appellant pled guilty to the information, waived the indictnent,
and agreed to pay restitution to all wvictins of his offenses
whet her or not charged in the informati on. He was sentenced to 40
nmonths in prison and was ordered to pay $797,719 in restitution.

DI SCUSSI ON
A

Byrd first asserts that he is entitled to a three-|Ievel
reduction for acceptance of responsibility rather than the two-
| evel reduction that he was given. The Federal Sentencing
Guidelines ("guidelines") provide for a reduction of a defendant's
offense level if the defendant denonstrates acceptance of
responsibility for his offense. The appellant was given a two

poi nt reduction pursuant to United States Sentencing Conm Ssion,

Federal Sentencing Guidelines WMnual ("U S S.G") 8§ 3El 1(a)




(Nov. 1, 1992).2 The appellant argues that he is entitled to an
additional reduction of one point pursuant to subsection (b) of
t hi s guideline.

This circuit has stated that a trial court's
determ nati on of acceptance of responsibility is entitled to great
deference on review and is not to be disturbed unless the

determnation is w thout foundation. United States v. Lara, 975

F.2d 1120, 1129 (5th Gr. 1992). |In appellant's case, the tria
court did not nake a determ nation w thout foundation. Although
Byrd suggests several reasons why he mght be entitled to an
addi tional one point reduction, the record supports the district
court's determ nation. The FBI investigation began in Decenber
1991. Byrd cooperated with the governnent only after he was caught
and did not sign a plea agreenent until eight nonths |ater.
| nstead of taking responsibility for his actions, he characterized
hi msel f as an unfortunate busi ness manager who recei ved bad advi ce,
attributing much of his legal difficulties to others, including his

busi ness associ ates, attorney, and nmanagenent consulting firm The

2 Section 3E1.1 of the Federal Sentencing Cuidelines provides:

(a) If the defendant clearly denonstrates acceptance of responsibility
for his offense, decrease the offense |evel by 2 |evels.

(b) If the defendant qualifies for a decrease under subsection (a), the

of fense |l evel determined prior to the operation of subsection (a) is

16 or greater, and the defendant has assisted authorities in the

i nvestigation or prosecution of his own m sconduct by taking one or

nore of the follow ng steps

(1) timely providing conplete information to the governnent
concerning his own invol venent in the offense; or

(2) timely notifying authorities of his intention to enter a plea
of guilty, thereby permtting the government to avoid
preparing for trial and permitting the court to allocate its
resources efficiently,

decrease the offense level by 1 additional |evel

US S G § 3EL 1L



appel | ant enphasizes the fact that he entered a plea agreenent
within days after being contacted by the Assistant United States
Attorney, but he neglects to point out that it was inperative at
that time to resolve the i ssue as soon as possi bl e because of a co-
conspirator's declining health.

In short, the district court's determ nation of the
appellant's acceptance of responsibility was not wthout
f oundat i on.

B

Byrd next argues that the district court inproperly
adjusted his offense level based on his role in the crimnal
activity. The guidelines provide for a defendant's offense |evel
to be increased depending on his role in the offense:

[i]f the defendant was a manager or supervi sor

(but not an organizer or |leader) and the

crimnal activity involved five or nore

participants or was otherwi se extensive,
i ncrease by 3 levels.

US S. G 8§ 3B1.1(b) (enphasis added).

The appellant argues that the crine for which he was
convicted did not involve five or nore participants so as to fal
within this guideline provision. Rat her, Byrd argues that his
offense level should have been increased by only two |evels
pursuant to § 3Bl.1(c):

[1]f the defendant was an organi zer, |eader,

manager, or supervisor in any crimna

activity other than described in (a) or (b),

i ncrease by 2 levels.

U.S.S.G § 3BL. 1(c).



What Byrd ignores is that § 3Bl.1(b) is not applicable
only when there are five or nore people involved, but also if the
defendant's behavior was "otherw se extensive." See US S G 8
3B1.1(b). The commentary to the guideline provides:

[I]n assessing whether an organization is

"ot herwi se extensive," all persons involved

during the course of the entire offense are to

be consi dered. Thus, a fraud that involved

only three participants but used t he unknow ng

servi ces of many outsiders coul d be consi dered

ext ensi ve.

US SG 8 3B1L.1 (comment 2). The Suprene Court has rul ed that
commentary to the Federal Sentencing GQuidelines "that interprets or
explains a qguideline is authoritative unless it violates the
Constitution or a federal statute, or is inconsistent with, or a

pl ai nly erroneous reading of, that guideline." Stinson v. United

St at es, us ., __, 113 S.a. 1913, 1915 (1993). Applying

this commentary as Stinson requires, the district court properly
found that Byrd was involved in "otherw se extensive" activity
within 8§ 3B1. 1(b) rather than 8 3B1.1(c). Byrd' s offense consisted
of conplex schenes utilizing the services of the appellant's
secretary and ot her enployees to defraud car deal ers, purchasers,
and financial institutions. The district court's factual decision
was not clearly erroneous.
C.

Byrd contends that the district court inproperly ordered
himto pay restitution to victins who were not victins of conduct
for which he pled guilty or was even charged. The appell ant argues

t hat under Hughey v. United States, 495 U S. 411 (1990), he cannot




be ordered to pay restitution for |osses related to conduct for
whi ch he was not convicted. The appellant was sentenced in 1992,
after the enactnent of the Crinme Control Act of 1990, 18 U. S.C A
8§ 3663(a)(3) (West Supp. 1993), which dictates the result on this
issue. As this court stated in United States v. Arnold, 947 F.2d

1236 (5th Cr. 1991), the Crinme Control Act has changed the | aw
enunci ated in Hughey, and therefore, the appellant's argunents
relying on Hughey are inappropriate.

The Crine Control Act enpowers the sentencing judge to
order restitution "in any crimnal case to the extent agreed to by
the parties in a plea agreenent.” 18 U S.C A 8 3663(a)(3) (West
Supp. 1993). See Arnold, 947 F.2d at 1237-38 (5th Gir. 1991). In
this plea agreenent, the appellant agreed to pay restitution
totalling $797,719 to all victinms of the wire fraud and bank fraud
conspiracy regardless of whether the victins were victins of
charged conduct. The district court's order of restitution in
accordance with the plea agreenent was proper.

D

Byrd conplains that the district court erred in severa
ways in its calculation of total loss in determning the
appellant's base offense |evel. Under the guidelines, the
sentenci ng court nust and did consider all relevant conduct of the
appellant in order to determ ne the appropriate guideline range.
Section 1B1.3(a)(2) provides that rel evant conduct for fraud shal
include all acts and om ssions "that were part of the sanme course

of conduct or common schene or plan as the offense of conviction."



US S G 8§ 1Bl1.3(a)(2).® Further, according to its comentary,

8§ 1B1.3(a)(2) does not require the appellant to have in fact been

convicted of nultiple counts. The only requirenent is that the
of fenses would have been required to be grouped if the appell ant
had been convicted of nultiple charges. Finally, the guidelines
requi re the use of intended rather than actual loss if the intended
| oss caused by the defendant is greater. US SG 8§ 2FL1,
Application Note 7; see U S. v. Cockerham 919 F.2d 286 (5th Gr.

1990) .

Here, the conduct that the sentencing court included as
rel evant conduct was part of Byrd's common schene of defrauding
i ndividuals and financial institutions. The sentence of the
district court nust be upheld unless the appellant shows that the

sentence was inposed in violation of |[|aw United States v.

Maseratti, slip op. 6461, 6471 (5th Gr. Aug. 27, 1993). Thi s
court is to give due deference to the district court's application
of the guidelines to the facts. 1d. The factual findings of the
district court are not to be disturbed unless they are clearly
erroneous. 1d. W have reviewed the transactions of which Byrd

conpl ai ns. The district court's determnation of the anount of

s The guideline provides that "solely with respect to offenses of a

character for which § 3D1.2(d) would require grouping of multiple counts, al
acts and omi ssions described in subdivisions (1)(A) and (1)(B) above that were
part of the sanme course of conduct or conmon schene or plan as the offense of
conviction" are to be included as relevant conduct. U S . S.G § 1Bl1.3(a)(2).
Section 3D1.2(d) specifically provides that the guideline under which the
appel |l ant was sentenced, 8 2F1.1 Fraud and Deceit, is to be grouped under the
guidelines. See U S S.G § 3DL.2(d). Therefore, the appellant's sentencing
procedure falls within § 1B1.3(a)(2).
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loss intended in each of the disputed transactions was neither
clearly erroneous nor in violation of |aw
E
Finally, Byrd argues that the district court erred in
refusing to depart downward fromthe guidelines. This claimwll
succeed only if the court's failure to depart violated the |aw.

United States v. Peters, 978 F.2d 166, 170 (5th Cr. 1992). Under

18 U.S.C. §8 3553(b) and U. S.S.G § 5K20.0, the district court may
only depart fromthe recommended guideline sentence when (1) the
guidelines expressly permt departure based on specified
aggravating or mtigating factors or (2) the district court finds
that there exists an aggravating or mtigating circunstance of a
kind or to a degree not adequately taken into consideration in the

gui del i nes' recommended sentence. United States v. lves, 984 F. 2d

649, 651 (5th Cir. 1993).

In the instant case, the behavior for which the appel | ant
requests a downward departure, including the |arge anount of
restitution to which he agreed, is conduct adequately taken into
consideration in the guidelines through a reduction of offense
| evel for acceptance of responsibility. See U S S. G § 3E1. 1.
There was no ground for departure.

CONCLUSI ON

Because the district court inposed Byrd's sentence in
accordance wth the requirenents of the Federal Sentencing
Quidelines, we affirmits decision.

AFFI RVED.



